
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, audio-
recorded, photographed or reported electronically by the use 
of social media by anyone attending.  This does not apply to 
any part of the meeting that is held in private session. 

Please ask for: 
Gurdip Paddan 

 
26 August 2019 

 
Dear Councillor 
 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
SOCIAL OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE to be held on Wednesday 4 
September 2019 at 7.30 pm in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, The Campus, 
Welwyn Garden City, Herts, AL8 6AE. 
 

 
Yours faithfully 

 
Corporate Director 
Public Protection, Planning and Governance 
 
 

A G E N D A 
PART 1 

 
SECTION A - PROCEDURAL BUSINESS AND POLICY REVIEW AND DEVELOPMENT 

ITEMS 
 

1.   APOLOGIES  
 

2.   SUBSTITUTION OF MEMBERS  
 

 To note any substitution of Committee Members in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rules. 
 

3.   MINUTES  
 

 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 12 June 2019 
(previously circulated).  
 

4.   ACTIONS UPDATE (Pages 5 - 6) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) on 
the status of actions agreed at the last meeting. 
 

Public Document Pack



5.   NOTIFICATION OF URGENT BUSINESS TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER ITEM 17  
 

6.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST BY MEMBERS  
 

 To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-disclosable 
pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items on this Agenda.  
 

7.   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME AND PETITIONS  
 

 Up to fifteen minutes will be made available for questions from members of the 
public on issues relating to the work of the Committee and to receive any petitions. 
 

8.   PERFORMANCE INDICATOR REPORT (Pages 7 - 10) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural Services) 
and accompanying presentation provides the Committee with the performance 
indicator data collected for those services that fall within its remit.  It provides 
Quarter 1 along with comparative information where available. 
 

9.   MEARS COMMUNITY FUND  
 

 A verbal update from Mr Keith Wilkinson (Mears - Senior Finance and Commercial 
Manager). 
 

10.   DOMESTIC ABUSE POLICY (Pages 11 - 44) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Director (Housing and Communities) on the approval and 
adoption of the updated draft Domestic Abuse Policy as set out in Appendix A. 
 

11.   COMMITTEE OVERVIEW WORK PROGRAMME 2019/20 (Pages 45 - 46) 
 

 The pro-forma which sets out the Committee’s overview work programme has 
been updated since the last meeting to enable forward planning of items to be 
considered to take place. Items which the Committee agrees it would like to 
consider will be scheduled into the work programme. 
 

12.   RESPONSE FROM CABINET TO RECOMMENDATIONS FROM OVERVIEW 
AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 

 There are no responses to report to this meeting. 
 

SECTION B - SCRUTINY ITEMS - EXECUTIVE MEMBERS ARE EXCLUDED FROM 
THIS PART OF THE MEETING 

 

13.   CONSIDERATION OF ITEMS FOR SCRUTINY  
 

 To consider 
 
(1) whether any Cabinet decisions should be scrutinised post-implementation 

(Paragraph 14.1 of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules)  
 



(2) whether any items which relate to areas covered by the Committee which a 
member of the Committee may wish to raise with a view to deciding whether 
an issue should be scrutinised. 

 

14.   COMMITTEE SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME 2019-20  
 

 The pro-forma which sets out the Committee’s scrutiny work programme is 
attached to enable forward planning of items to be considered to take place as 
appropriate. 
 

15.   RESPONSE FROM CABINET/COUNCIL TO SCRUTINY RECOMMENDATIONS/ 
REPORTS  
 

 There are no responses to report to this meeting. 
 

16.   COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION  
 

 To receive any request from a Councillor for a discussion on behalf of residents on 
an issue affecting a single council ward where local problems have arisen and 
other methods of resolution have been exhausted. 
 

17.   SUCH OTHER BUSINESS AS, IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIRMAN, IS OF 
SUFFICIENT URGENCY TO WARRANT IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION  
 

18.   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

 The Committee is asked to resolve: 
 

That under Section 100(A)(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be now excluded from the meeting for item 19 (if any) on the grounds 
that it involves the likely disclosure of confidential or exempt information as defined 
in Section 100A(3) and Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the said Act (as amended).  
 

In resolving to exclude the public in respect of the exempt information, it is 
considered that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information.  
 

PART II - PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL ITEMS 
 

19.   ANY OTHER BUSINESS OF A CONFIDENTIAL OR EXEMPT NATURE AT THE 
DISCRETION OF THE CHAIRMAN  
 

 
Circulation: Councillors B.Fitzsimon (Chairman) 

H.Bower (Vice-Chairman) 
L.Brandon 
J.Caliskan 
A.Chesterman 
L.Chesterman 
 

J.Cragg 
S.Elam 
R.Lass 
D.Richardson 
A Rohale 
 

  
N.Pace (Executive Member, Housing and Community) 

 



 Tenants’ Panel Representatives 
To be appointed 

 
 
 Corporate Management Team 

Press and Public (except Part II Items) 
 
If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Graham 
Seal, Governance Services on 01707 357444 or email – democracy@welhat.gov.uk  
 
 

mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


Part I 
Main author: Gurdip Paddan 
Executive Member:  
Not Specific Ward  

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
SOCIAL OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 4 SEPTEMBER 2019 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 

ACTIONS STATUS REPORT 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 In order to ensure that actions identified at meetings are completed, this 
report lists the actions from the meeting on 12 June 2019, those responsible 
for completing each action and its current status. 

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 That Members note the status of actions which were identified at the meeting 
of this Committee on 12 June 2019. 

Minute Action Responsible Status/ 
Date Completed 

9. 11. Housing 
Homelessness 
and Rough 
Sleeper Strategy 
2019-2024 

12.  

Head of 
Community 
and Housing 
Strategy  
 

Full Council on 22 July 2019 
requested that further consideration 
be given by the Cabinet Housing 
Panel and report back. The 
Strategy was referred back to 
Cabinet Housing Panel on 13 
August and a recommendation was 
made for approval by Full Council. 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
Part I 
Main author: Paul Underwood 
Executive Member: Cllr Tony Kingsbury 
All Wards 
 

 
 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
SOCIAL OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 4 SEPTEMBER 2019 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (RESOURCES, ENVIRONMENT AND 
CULTURAL SERVICES) 

PERFORMANCE INDICATOR REPORT  

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 This report and accompanying presentation provides the Committee with 
performance indicator data collected for those services that fall within its remit. It 
provides Quarter 1 along with comparative information where available.  

1.2 Taken together, this report and presentation enables this Committee to identify 
which of our services are improving, not improving or remaining the same in their 
key performance areas. Service comments are also included to explain the 
performance shown, along with any further action needed.    

2 Recommendations  

2.1 It is recommended that this Committee: 

 Note the performance indicator data which is collected and reported here.   

 Discuss and agree any feedback to be provided to our service teams on the 
trends shown in these performance indicators on an exception basis. 

3 Explanation 

3.1 We use performance indicators to measure how well we are performing and 
improving our services over time. We can use them to help plan for future service 
improvements where the service is consistent with our published corporate 
priorities set out in the council’s Business Plan 2018-21.   

3.2 Targets are developed by Heads of Service in liaison with their Corporate Director. 
They are performance managed both through our Committees and through our 
internal performance clinics. The latter are held quarterly and are chaired by the 
Leader of the Council, with all Executive Members attending in turn to discuss their 
respective service performance.  

Page 7

Agenda Item 8



 

 

Implications 

4 Legal Implication 

4.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from the production of this report. 

5 Financial Implication 

5.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from the production of this report. 

6 Risk Management Implication 

6.1 There are no direct risk management implications arising from the production of 
this report. 

7 Security & Terrorism Implication 

7.1 There are no direct security and terrorism implications arising from the production 
of this report. 

8 Procurement Implication 

8.1 There are no direct procurement implications arising from the production of this 
report. 

9 Climate Change Implication 

9.1 There are no direct climate change implications arising from the production of this 
report. 

10 Health and Wellbeing Implication 

10.1 There are no health and wellbeing implications directly arising from the contents of 
this report. 

11 Communication and Engagement Implication 

11.1 There are no communication and engagement implications directly arising from the 
contents of this report. 

12  Link to Corporate Priorities 

12.1 This report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority ‘Our Council’. 

13 Equality and Diversity 

13.1 An equalities impact assessment was not completed for the collection and reporting 
of performance indicators. 

 
Name of Author: Paul Underwood - 01707 357220 
Title: Head of Policy and Culture 
Date: August 2019 

Page 8



 Results

KPI no KPI Description Note Target Q1 Method Last
year

BPI 11 Visits in person to, and use of,
local museums and galleries
(per 1,000 population)

This is a very pleasing result for Quarter One. The current Cresta Couture
exhibition has appealed to a new audience and has been refreshed to run on
to November. Private hires of Gallery One by local artists has attracted more
visitors. The Cream Teas season began on Easter Sunday and the small
changes made to its presentation and content this year has increased
weekend visitor numbers.Social media posts remain good and the monthly
magazine article we write for the local paper helps to drive visitors to both
sites. Visitor numbers for the Welwyn Roman Bath House remain constant
but we expect to see a rise as we open daily over the school summer holiday
period, and we have a new Heritage Lottery funded project based there
starting to explore local archaeology.

BPI 12 School group visits to, and use
of, museums and galleries

Following the retirement of our Education Officer at the beginning of January,
other team members worked hard to deliver the already booked school
sessions in Quarter Four but they were not engaging with schools to promote
further visits in Quarter One. So this had a knock on impact on school visitor
numbers between April and June. When the new Officer arrived in March
there was a period of settling in and relying on other staff to continue to assist
with school visits. So this meant the service was 54 school children short of
the Quarter One target which, without the efforts of other staff, would have
been more adverse. The new Officer has adapted most of the taught sessions
now and is actively engaging with teachers. The service expects to see an
increase in school visits as the year unfolds based on the positive feedback
received to date. Attendance for toddler morning sessions is also increasing
due to better content.

BPI 14 The percentage of customers
satisfied with value for money
across all services offered by
CW Entertainment

Overall customer satisfaction with value for money (VFM) at Campus West is
reported at 89% in Quarter One. This is based on email responses from 1,048
customers who purchased a ticket for any activity or event between April and
June. This is considered to be a very high percentage rating for leisure and
entertainment facilities who use the Net Promoter Score system for
measuring satisfaction with value for money.

BPI 15 The percentage of customers
satisfied with all services and
facilities offered by CWE

Overall customer satisfaction with Campus West is reported at 95.8% in
Quarter One based on email responses from a total of 1,048 customers who
purchased a ticket for any activity or event between April and June. This is up
on the satisfaction level reported in the same period last year as we have
acted on past survey findings to improve the overall visitor experience. Our
Live on Screen broadcasts account for the highest individual level of
customer satisfaction at this time.

42 41 2 50

600 546 2 830

90 89 1 89.5

78 95.8 1 94.3

P
age 9



 Results

KPI no KPI Description Note Target Q1 Method Last
year

BPI 29 The total number of
households living in temporary
accommodation in the borough
(where the council have a duty)

The total number of households in temporary accommodation continues to
be high compared to past data. The number of households in hotel
accommodation has dropped to almost zero since the new temporary
accommodation sites were taken on, leading to a significant reduction in
expense to the council, as well as providing more suitable accommodation
for families locally. Individuals who are difficult to place in shared
accommodation are sometimes placed in hotel whilst alternatives are
arranged, but this is kept to a minimum

BPI 30 The number of Decent Home
assessments undertaken in
properties in the Private Sector

The team has been restructured to provide targeted and discrete
interventions for licensing, other housing standards work and PAL
Accreditation. To reflect this new working arrangement the target for the
forthcoming year has been significantly increased from 500 to 800 (125 to 200
pro rata per quarter). This quarter’s target revised was exceeded by 7%. The
team are now focussing their attention of pro-active measures to identify
unlicensed HMOs as, despite an awareness raising campaign, there we
suspect that there are a significant amount of licensable HMO where we have
not received an application.

75 115 2 113

200 214 2 142

P
age 10

policy_gc
Oval



 

Part I 
Main author: Kerry Clifford 
Executive Member: Cllr Bernard Sarson 
All Wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
SOCIAL OVERVIEW SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 4TH SEPTEMBER 2019 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES) 

DOMESTIC ABUSE POLICY 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 This report recommends the approval and adoption of the updated draft 
Domestic Abuse Policy set out in Appendix A. 

1.2 The current Domestic Abuse Policy was adopted by Welwyn Hatfield Community 
Housing Trust in December 2015. The current policy is shown at Appendix B. 

1.3 Following the re-integration of the former Trust in February 2017 and changes in 
legislation and practice since the previous policy was approved, a full review of 
the current policy has been carried out and updated as set out in this report. 

1.4 The draft updated Domestic Abuse Policy provides guidance on how the council 
will deal with cases of domestic abuse to ensure we provide a consistent and 
empathetic service. 

1.5 The updated draft Domestic Abuse Policy reflects changes to the previous policy 
in the following areas; 

 Updated council branding 

 Updated definition of domestic abuse and violence against women and girls in 
line with Government definitions and guidance 

 Revised partnership working arrangements to reflect current practice 

 Updated the support provided by the council and our partners. 

 Removal of procedural guidance from the policy document 
 
2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 Members recommend to Cabinet the adoption of the Domestic Abuse Policy (as 
set out at Appendix A). 

3 Explanation 

3.1 The current Domestic Abuse Policy was drafted in December 2015 and rolled out 
in the former Community Housing Trust. 

3.2 The current policy is a former Trust policy and therefore is not representative of 
current operational circumstances. 

3.3 The council is a key partner in the Community Safety Partnership, which has five 
key priorities via a published annual action plan. One of these references 
specifically our approach to managing incidents of domestic abuse:  

Page 11

Agenda Item 10



 

1) Support People Enduring or Escaping Domestic Abuse, Intimidation and      
Harassment. 

3.4 The updated draft Domestic Abuse Policy defines our objective to provide a 
consistent and supportive response to all those who experience domestic abuse 
either directly or indirectly. 

3.5 The policy is clear on the councils’ commitment to delivering an easily accessible 
and victim centred approach to tackling domestic abuse. 

Implications 

4 Legal Implication(s) 

4.1 Under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 (as amended), district councils have a 
duty to plan jointly with other named responsible authorities to prevent and tackle 
crime, anti-social behaviour and the misuse of drugs.  The responsible authorities 
(including Police, Hertfordshire County Council, National Probation Service, 
Clinical Commissioning Groups and the Fire and Rescue Service) form the 
Community Safety Partnership. 

4.2 The Governments’ Homelessness code of guidance for local authorities 
recommends that Housing Authorities should have policies in place to identify 
and respond to domestic abuse.  Section 177(1) of the Housing Act 1996, the 
Homelessness Act 2002 and the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 places a 
duty upon the council to assist those who are homeless or threatened with 
homelessness due to domestic abuse or other violence.  

4.3 Perpetrating domestic abuse is a crime as well as a breach of tenancy.  The 
council has tools and powers to deal with perpetrators of domestic abuse under 
the ASB, Crime and Policing Act 2014 as well as the ability to commence civil 
proceedings against the tenancy. 

5 Financial Implication(s) 

5.1 Failure to manage cases of domestic abuse effectively can lead to increased 
costs due to void loss, damage to property, compensation claims for redress via 
the Housing Ombudsman and court costs relating to compensation, enforcement 
and evictions. 

6 Risk Management Implications 

6.1 The risks related to this proposal are: 

6.2 Failure to support victims of domestic abuse safely and effectively can put victims 
at added risk and could ultimately lead to a Domestic Homicide. 

6.3 Failure to support victims of domestic abuse within our communities presents a 
high reputational risk to the council.   

6.4 Both of these risks are significantly mitigated by having a robust policy and clear 
procedure in place to ensure reports are managed quickly, sensitively and 
consistently. 

7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s) 

Page 12



7.1 There are no implications arising from this Policy. 

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

8.1 There are no procurement implications arising from this policy. 

9 Climate Change Implication(s) 

9.1 There are no climate change implications arising from this policy. 

10 Human Resources Implication(s) 

10.1 There are no human resources implications arising from this policy. 

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s) 

11.1 Domestic Abuse can have a significant impact on the health and wellbeing of 
victims, their families and the community.  The Domestic Abuse Policy sets out a 
harm centred and victim first approach. 

11.2 The policy is clear about safeguarding vulnerable groups as well as dealing 
robustly with cases of domestic abuse. 

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s) 

12.1 Once the policy is agreed, communication on what the public can expect from 
how we will deal with reports of domestic abuse, how services can be accessed, 
other support avenues available and how quickly we will respond will be 
designed and published. 

13 Link to Corporate Priorities 

13.1  The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priorities: 

a) Our Community and specifically to the achievement of ’promoting 
inclusive and safe communities’  

b) Our Housing and specifically to the achievement of ‘being a high 
quality landlord’.  

14 Equality and Diversity 

14.1  An EqIA was completed in July 2019 (Appendix C) and the EqIA found that there 
is the potential for negative impacts because we may have to take action against 
vulnerable perpetrators who may have complex needs themselves.  However, it 
is considered these impacts are justified on the grounds that each case will be 
risk assessed and the proportionality of any action will be measured and 
recorded to identify any mitigating circumstances or support needs. 

 
 
 
 
Name of author Kerry Clifford (ext. 2659) 
Title Neighbourhood and Enforcement Manager 
Date 26th July 2019 
 
 

Page 13



 

 
Appendices: 

Appendix A – Draft updated Domestic Abuse Policy  

Appendix B – Current Domestic Abuse Policy 2015 

Appendix C – EqIA Domestic Abuse Policy 

Page 14



Classification: 
Unrestricted 

Version 

1 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

 

 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

 
Domestic Abuse Policy 

 
 

Scope: 
This policy applies to all residents of Welwyn Hatfield 
Borough Council and any persons who may approach 
the council as a victim of Domestic Abuse. 

  
Effective Date: TBC 

  
Review Date: TBC 

  
Signed Off : TBC 

  
Author: Neighbourhood and Enforcement Manager 

  
Policy Owned by: Neighbourhood and Enforcement 

  

Statute: 

The Children Act 1989  

Housing Act 1996  

Family Law Act 1996  

Protection from Harassment Act 1997  

Data Protection Act 2018 

Crime & Disorder Act 1998 S.17  

Freedom of Information Act 2000  

Homelessness Act 2002  

Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 

Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003  

Domestic Violence, Crime and Victims Act 2004  

Civil Partnership Act 2004  

Protection of Freedoms Act 2012  

Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014  

Serious Crime Act 2015  

  

National Standards 
Strategy to end violence against women and girls: 2016 to 
2020 & position statement on male victims 
Homelessness code of guidance for local authorities 

Page 15



Classification: Unrestricted 

                                        

 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Domestic Abuse Policy 

1 Scope 

1.1 This policy applies to all tenants, leaseholders and residents of Welwyn 
Hatfield Borough Council (WHBC) as well as any victims of domestic abuse 
who are seeking assistance from WHBC. 

2 Policy Statement 

2.1 The aim of the policy is to set out the approach of WHBC when identifying and 
dealing with incidents of domestic abuse. 

2.2 The specific objective of the Domestic Abuse Policy is to ensure that we 
provide a consistent and supportive service to anyone who is experiencing 
domestic abuse. 

3 Key Principles 

3.1 At WHBC we believe that nobody should live in fear of violence, abuse, 
stalking or harassment so our priority is to provide an accessible and 
responsive service. 

3.2 We will take a harm centred and victim focussed approach to deal with cases 
of domestic abuse empathetically, sensitively and in accordance with the 
victims’ needs. 

3.3 We will work in partnership to ensure that survivors of domestic abuse receive 
the support that they need, when they need it and to ensure that services are 
joined-up and well sign-posted. 

3.4 We will raise awareness of domestic abuse to educate, reduce recurrences 
and prevent incidents of domestic abuse occurring 

3.5 Whilst women and girls are disproportionately affected by all forms of domestic 
abuse, we will support any individual experiencing such issues irrespective of 
age, gender, sexuality, disability, ethnicity, religion, social background or any 
other protected characteristics identified in the Equality Act 2010. 

4 Definition of Domestic Abuse  

4.1 We use the Government definition of domestic abuse which is defined as; 

Any incident or pattern of incidents of controlling, coercive or threatening 
behaviour, abuse or abuse between those aged 16 or over who are or have 
been intimate partners or family members regardless of gender or sexuality. 
This can encompass, but is not limited to, the following types of abuse: 

 Psychological 

Page 16



Classification: Unrestricted 

                                        

 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 
 3  

 

 Physical 

 Sexual 

 Financial 

 Emotional 

4.2 Controlling behaviour is defined as a range of acts designed to make a person 
subordinate and/or dependent by isolating them from sources of support, 
exploiting their resources and capacities for personal gain, depriving them of 
the means needed for independence, resistance and escape and regulating 
their everyday behaviour. 

4.3 Coercive behaviour is defined as an act or a pattern of acts of assault, threats, 
humiliation and intimidation or other abuse that is used to harm, punish, or 
frighten their victim. 

4.4 The definition, which is not a legal definition, includes so called ‘honour’ based 
violence, female genital mutilation (FMG) and forced marriage, and is clear 
that victims are not confined to one gender. 

4.5 The term Violence Against Women and Girls refers to the following range of 
serious crime types which are predominantly, but not exclusively, experienced 
by women and girls: Domestic Violence and Abuse; sexual offences; stalking; 
FGM; crimes said to be committed in the name of ‘honour; forced marriage; 
prostitution; and trafficking for sexual exploitation. 

4.6 Controlling and coercive behaviour is also defined under section 76 of the 
Serious Crime Act 2015 as causing someone to fear that violence will be used 
against them on at least two occasions or generating serious alarm or distress 
that has a substantial effect on their usual day to day activities. 

5 Reporting Domestic Abuse 

5.1 WHBC recognises that reporting domestic abuse or seeking help can be a 
very frightening experience and is committed to promoting a sensitive and 
confidential response. 

5.2 We will offer a range of ways for domestic abuse to be reported to us including 
in person, over the telephone, in writing, by email or online. 

5.3 We will respond within one working day and will endeavour to make available 
an officer of the same gender or ethnicity, where requested.  We will also 
provide translation services where necessary. 

5.4 We operate a 24 hour control centre service for reporting emergency repairs 
out of hours and for homelessness advice, should victims of domestic abuse 
need emergency repairs or accommodation. 

Page 17



Classification: Unrestricted 

                                        

 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 
 4  

 

5.5 We will report incidents to the police on behalf of individuals (with consent) or 
support them in doing so or where they feel intimidated or frightened to do it 
themselves. 

5.6 We will investigate all reports that we receive including those from witnesses 
or third parties who are concerned that domestic abuse is taking place. 

6 Supporting Victims and Witnesses 

6.1 WHBC will provide a named case worker from the anti-social behaviour team 
or the housing options team who will agree a clear action plan, setting out the 
steps we will take to investigate a case and what support we can offer. 

6.2 We will agree a safe place to meet and a safe way of communicating so as not 
to put the victim at greater risk. 

6.3 We will ensure that a risk assessment using the Domestic Abuse, Stalking and 
Honour Based Violence (DASH) Risk Identification Checklist is completed.  
This may be carried out by a trained member of WHBC staff or by another 
agency who is better placed to complete it. Where the DASH assessment 
meets the local authority threshold for the Multi-Agency Risk Assessment 
Conference (MARAC), it will be referred. 

6.4 We will work with our partners to ensure that support is co-ordinated and that 
those affected by domestic abuse have access to the right services at the right 
time. 

6.5 We will ensure that our frontline staff receive appropriate and on-going training 
necessary to safely identify, assess and manage cases of domestic abuse. 

6.6 We will offer advice and support regarding housing options where it is 
unreasonable for a person to continue to occupy their home if it is probable 
that this will lead to domestic abuse or other violence taking place. 

6.7 Where survivors wish to remain in their current home we will offer advice and 
guidance on how to manage changes to tenancies and can provide security 
measures such as additional locks, lighting or sanctuary rooms. 

6.8 We will signpost or refer to more specialist services where appropriate. 

6.9 We will regularly review action plans and assess risk to ensure that the needs 
of those experiencing domestic abuse are at the core or our support.  

6.10 Closure of the case will be agreed with the victim unless the victim is not 
engaging. In this instance, any other agencies involved in the case will be 
notified that WHBC has closed the case. 

Page 18



Classification: Unrestricted 

                                        

 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 
 5  

 

7 Action Against Perpetrators 

7.1 WHBC will take firm action against anyone perpetrating domestic abuse which 
may include civil action such as an injunction or possession proceedings. 

7.2 Where the perpetrator is a tenant of WHBC, this is a clear breach of their 
tenancy in addition to the criminal aspect.  We will make use of appropriate 
tools and powers to sanction and support perpetrators, including the use of 
injunctions, Notice of Seeking Possession and repossession. 

7.3 Where the perpetrator is not a WHBC tenant, another agency or service may 
be best placed to take action such as the police or even the victim themselves. 

7.4 We acknowledge that perpetrators may have their own vulnerabilities and will 
assess the support needs of the perpetrator at the earliest stage.  When 
considering any form of legal action we will endeavour to undertake a 
proportionality assessment to ensure action is necessary and proportionate 
and that we have considered the Human Rights Act 1998 and the Equalities 
Act 2010. 

7.5 Where support needs are identified we will work with the perpetrator where 
appropriate or signpost to perpetrator programmes or other agencies in an 
effort to break the cycle of abuse. 

8 Safeguarding 

8.1 We understand that victims of domestic abuse may be vulnerable for a 
number of reasons and that a person’s vulnerability and safety can change 
during the course of a case.   

8.2 We will ensure that a risk assessment using the Domestic Abuse, Stalking and 
Honour Based Violence (DASH) Risk Identification Checklist is completed.  
This may be carried out by a trained member of WHBC staff or by another 
agency who is better placed to complete it. Where the DASH assessment 
meets the local authority threshold for the Multi-Agency Risk Assessment 
Conference (MARAC), it will be referred. 

8.3 We will not give details or information to anyone without permission unless 
there are serious concerns for the safety of any victim, perpetrator or 
household member.  In cases where safeguarding concerns are apparent, we 
have a legal responsibility to share information. 

9 Working in Partnership 

9.1 We recognise that we cannot assist those experiencing domestic abuse in 
isolation and that a co-ordinated response is essential to ensure that survivors 
and their families receive the correct support. 

Page 19



Classification: Unrestricted 

                                        

 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 
 6  

 

9.2 WHBC is a key member of the Domestic Abuse Forum that shares statistics, 
embeds the Hertfordshire Domestic Abuse Strategy and helps to inform good 
practice across the district. 

9.3 We commit to training and promoting Domestic Abuse Champions within 
WHBC as a supporter of the Sunflower Network in Hertfordshire. 

9.4 WHBC is an active partner of MARAC which facilitates, monitors and 
evaluates effective information sharing to enable appropriate actions to be 
taken to increase the safety of victims.  MARAC combines up to date risk 
assessments and links them to a risk management plan and the provision of 
services appropriate to those involved in domestic abuse; victim, children and 
perpetrator. 

9.5 The Community Safety Partnership will promote the engagement of multiple 
agencies to identify, prevent, intervene and reduce the impact of domestic 
abuse as well as raising the profile of available services. 

9.6 We will work collaboratively to break down harmful gender and cultural 
barriers that make it difficult for some victims to report domestic abuse and 
engage with services. 

10 Information Sharing and Confidentiality 

10.1 We will maintain confidentiality when dealing with cases of domestic abuse 
and will always seek consent from those reporting domestic abuse before 
disclosing information to any other agency.  However, where cases meet the 
Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) threshold, where there 
are safeguarding concerns or it is believed a crime has taken place, we have a 
legal basis for sharing information irrespective of whether consent has been 
gained. 

10.2 When we share information, we will ensure that we transfer it safely and store 
it appropriately.   

10.3 Should we receive Freedom of Information or Subject Access Requests we 
will deal with these lawfully and within guidance from the Information 
Commissioners Office. 

11 Review of Decision and Complaints 

11.1 Any person who is not satisfied with how WHBC or its contractor(s) has 
delivered the service they have received, they have the right to have their case 
investigated. 

11.2 The person should follow the council’s complaint procedure if they wish to 
make a complaint about quality of the service they have received. 

Page 20



Classification: Unrestricted 

                                        

 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 
 7  

 

12 Monitoring 

12.1 This policy will be reviewed every three years unless legislation, statutory 
guidance or business developments require otherwise.  This is to ensure we 
continue to meet our key principles and deliver good practice. 

12.2 We will monitor how many domestic abuse cases are reported to us, our 
response times and how many survivors approach us with a housing need and 
are assessed under homelessness legislation. 

12.3 All cases of domestic abuse that are reported to us will be audited by a team 
leader or manager within one working day of it being responded to. 

12.4 We will undertake, where appropriate, a satisfaction survey with each person 
that we open a domestic abuse case for to ensure that we can continue to 
improve our service and that it meets the needs of those accessing it. 

13 Equality and Diversity 

13.1 The council will treat all customers and staff with fairness and respect. We 
value diversity and work to promote equality and tackle unlawful 
discrimination.  

13.2 We are committed to helping customers to access information about their 
homes and services in a way that suits individual needs. 

13.3 We will meet the requirements relating to equality and diversity laid down in 
the Equality Act 2010 by working to:  

 eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation  

 advance equality of opportunity and  

 Foster good relations between all of our residents, service users and 
staff.  

13.4 The council is committed to welcoming and valuing diversity, promoting 
equality of opportunity and tackling unlawful discrimination. We will not 
discriminate against staff, customers or others based on their sex, sexual 
orientation, marital status, pregnancy and maternity, gender reassignment, 
race, religion,  belief, disability or age (collectively referred to as protected 
characteristics in the Equality Act 2010). 

13.5 The council aims to provide homes and services that meet the diverse needs 
of customers. We believe that all customers should be able to access housing, 
support and care services with the same ease and that the quality of our 
service is the same high standard for all.  

 

Page 21



Classification: Unrestricted 

                                        

 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 
 8  

 

Related Documents 

Document Link 

Connected Policies: 

Safeguarding Adults Policy 
Safeguarding Children Policy 
Anti-social Behaviour Policy 
Allocations Policy 
Equality and Diversity Policy 
Corporate Enforcement Policy 
Data Protection Policy 

Forms and Letters: 
Domestic Abuse, Stalking and Honour Based Violence 
(DASH) Risk Identification Checklist 
Proportionality Statement 

Leaflets: 
Walking Away from Domestic Abuse 
To be designed. 
Useful contacts 

 

Version history 

Version no. 1 Date effective: Date 

Full / partial review? Full Review 

Brief summary of changes: 

Updated definitions 
Rebranded from the Housing Trust Policy 
Updated support provided  
Revised partnership working arrangements 
Equality and Diversity considerations 
Removal of procedural guidance 

Staff consultation (teams): 
Housing and Communities, Neighbourhood and 
Enforcement, Safeguarding Steering Group, 
Designated Safeguarding Champions. 

Resident consultation: 
Tenants Panel – To be completed 
Residents Panel – To be completed 

Approved By Cabinet / Council: Date of full cabinet or council approval 

Author: Neighbourhood and Enforcement Manager 

 

Page 22



Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy  

Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy 

Kerry Clare 

Dec 15 

 
 

Welwyn Hatfield Community Housing Trust 

Domestic Abuse Policy 

 
Table of Contents:      Page 

 

 Our Commitment 

 

 Our Principles 

 

 Our Guarantee 

 

1. Encouraging Reporting and Monitoring 
 

2. Multi Agency Working 

 

3. Prevention and Publicity 

 

4. Supporting Witnesses 

 

5. Action against Perpetrators 

 

6. Support and Rehabilitation of the Perpetrator 

 

Appendix A: Useful Contacts 

 

Appendix B: Further Information 

 

Appendix C: Procedure for dealing with domestic  

abuse – Staff Guidance Note 

 

Appendix D: Tackling Domestic Abuse:  

Performance Indicators 

 

Page 23



Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy  

Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy 

Kerry Clare 

Dec 15 

Our Commitment 

 

We believe that our tenants and householders should not live in fear of violence or 

abuse.  We take domestic abuse seriously and are committed to providing a sensitive 

and confidential response to anyone approaching us for assistance in cases of domestic 

abuse.   

Welwyn Hatfield Community Housing Trust has therefore included a clause in the 

tenancy agreement, which states: - 

 

“3.23 Violence and Domestic Abuse 

 

You, or anyone who lives with you or visitors, invited or uninvited to your home must 

not permit, commit, incite or cause any type of violence, including domestic violence 

anywhere or threaten violence anywhere against any other person wither living with 

you or anywhere else, or make anyone who lives with you leave the home because of 

domestic violence or the threat of it.  Examples of domestic violence include: mental, 
emotional, sexual or physical abuse and assault.  If you are a victim of domestic abuse, 

we can advise, support and if necessary take action.” 

 

The Housing Trust will work with key partners in particular the Council, Welwyn 

Hatfield Domestic Abuse Forum and Community Safety Partners, to provide the best 

and most appropriate services for those experiencing or affected by domestic abuse. 

 

How is domestic abuse defined? 

 

The definition of  Domestic Abuse is defined as any incident or pattern of incidents of 

controlling, coercive or threatening behaviour, abuse or abuse between those aged 16 

or over who are or have been intimate partners or family members regardless of 

gender or sexuality. This can encompass, but is not limited to, the following types of 

abuse: 

 Psychological 

 Physical 

 Sexual 

 Financial 

 Emotional 

Controlling behaviour: A range of acts designed to make a person subordinate 

and/or dependent by isolating them from sources of support, exploiting their 

resources and capacities for personal gain, depriving them  of the means needed for 

independence, resistance and escape and regulating their everyday behaviour. 

Coercive behaviour: An act or a pattern of acts of assault, threats, humiliation and 

intimidation or other abuse that is used to harm, punish, or frighten their victim. 

It includes forced marriage and so-called ‘honour abuse’. 

Page 24



Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy  

Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy 

Kerry Clare 

Dec 15 

Our Principles 

 

By adopting this policy, the Housing Trust aims to: 

 

 Reduce the recurrence and prevent incidents of domestic abuse 

 Improve the safety and well-being of all those affected by domestic abuse 

 Improve the Trust’s response to domestic abuse and increase the support it 

provides to break the cycle of abuse 

 Provide a consistent and achievable policy for employees to work within when 
supporting those experiencing or affected by domestic abuse 

 Encourage multi-agency working to ensure delivery of a sound and efficient 

service to survivors 

 Encourage victims to seek support from whichever agency they deem 

appropriate  

 Raise awareness and understanding of the issues of domestic abuse in the 

district, and ensure there are sound systems for monitoring cases, which 

maintain the strict confidentiality of victims. 

 

Our Guarantee 

 

In order to offer a focused response to reports of domestic abuse and to support any 

victim of domestic abuse, the Housing Trust offers the following commitments: - 

 

 We will accept that the allegation is justifiable unless it is proven otherwise. 

 We will support and advise the victim throughout the whole investigation. 

 Victims will be involved in discussing and agreeing an action plan, as well as 

monitoring progress 

 We will support victims, if they wish to remain in their own home. 

 We would encourage all victims to report any incidents to the Police, in 
particular the Domestic Abuse Unit, and we will take positive action to 

encourage prosecution. 

 The victim’s permission will be sought before details are released to any of our 

partners (including the Police) except where there may be a safeguarding 

concern.  In these cases, a referral will be made to Children’s Services or Adult 

Care Services. 

 We will provide victims with details of other organisations and agencies who 
are able to offer support and advice. 

 We will – in partnership with other agencies, where appropriate – take action 

against any person who is responsible for any act of domestic abuse. 

 Progress to legal action will, where appropriate be prompt; this action may 

include injunction and committal as well as possession and eviction 

proceedings. 

 Effective action will be taken to remove the threat and provide a long-term 

solution. 

 

The Housing Trust will demonstrate by its actions that domestic abuse will not be 

tolerated and this will be made clear to both its tenants and to any person seeking a 

tenancy. 

Page 25



Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy  

Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy 

Kerry Clare 

Dec 15 

 

1. Encouraging reporting and monitoring 

 

1.1 The Housing Trust recognises that many victims may be afraid to report 

incidents, or may be more willing to report incidents anonymously or to help 

lines, support groups or their doctor’s surgery than to the Police or their 

landlord. 

 

The Housing Trust is committed to putting measures in place to promote the 

support available to victims, to give victims confidence to report incidents and 

seek help, and to empower victims to help prevent the recurrence of domestic 

abuse. 

 

1.2 We will keep accurate and up-to-date records of domestic abuse 

interviews/reports, including visits, details of incidents and actions taken. 

 
Staff will ask for the victim’s consent before sharing information with other 

agencies, including the Police.  Where permission is denied, only anonymous 

reports (withholding the identity of the victim and any details that might lead to 

their identification) will be passed on. 

 

Staff understand the importance of confidentiality and data protection in multi-

agency working and the sharing of information between agencies.  In particular, 

staff are aware that Section 115 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 makes it 

lawful for organisations engaged in multi-agency working to exchange 

information only as part of a strategy to reduce crime and disorder. 

 

1.3 The Housing Trust has implemented a protocol for the exchange of 

information about domestic abuse incidents and perpetrators with other local 

agencies.  Incidents of this nature will be monitored as part of the ASB Forum, 

which meets monthly. 

 

The Housing Trust is represented at the Community Safety Partnership Task 

Group, whose key aim is to reduce violent crime.  This provides ongoing 

opportunities to influence the implementation of budgets and initiatives aimed 

at increasing the number of domestic abuse incidents reported.  This is in 

addition to the Housing Trusts own commitment to increase reporting. 

 

1.4 The Housing Trust will report on known incidents of domestic abuse to the 

Community Safety Partnership on a monthly basis as part of the Anti-Social 

Behaviour Forum. 

 

The Anti Social Behaviour Team will monitor the number of incidents reported, 

action taken to support victims, action taken against perpetrators and victim 

satisfaction with action taken.  A summary of this information will be reported 

to the Community Safety Partnership annually. 
 

1.5 The Housing Trust recognises that all staff, particularly frontline, need access to 

the relevant training and tools to enable them to handle reports of domestic 

Page 26



Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy  

Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy 

Kerry Clare 

Dec 15 

abuse appropriately and tackle the causes and effects of domestic abuse 

robustly. 

 

We are committed to providing a comprehensive in-housing training 

programme, and will seek additional specialist training where required. 

 

1.6 In broadening the staff’s understanding of domestic abuse issues, the Housing 

Trust will maintain links with other professional and community agencies. 

 

The Head of Community Development attends the Domestic Abuse Forum, 

which meets bi-monthly, and will organise updates to be delivered to staff 

through training sessions and other means if necessary. 

 

2. Multi-agency working 

 

2.1 The Housing Trust believes that in order to ensure a thorough and supportive 
investigation in any reported case, liaison with other agencies may be beneficial.  

Moreover, where curative and/or enforcement action is required, organisations 

other than the Trust may be best placed to deliver these.  

 

However, at all times it is the needs of the victim that are paramount, and staff 

will ask for their consent before information is passed to other organisations 

unless there is a high risk to those affected and/or a safeguarding concern. 

 

Victims will be fully involved in setting an action plan and complete risk 

assessments and in monitoring its progress where it is appropriate to do so. 

 

2.2 The Housing Trust is an active partner attending monthly MARAC (Multi 

Agency Risk Assessment Conference) meetings.  The purpose of the MARAC is 

to facilitate the safety of those at high risk of immediate harm from domestic 

abuse.  It also aims to reduce the chance of victims and their families suffering 

further incidents of abuse. 

 

The partners attending MARAC share information, identify risk and enable 

measures to be put in place to provide protection through a safety plan. 

 

Staff will complete a DASH risk identification checklist with the victim as the 

earliest opportunity.  If the MARAC referral threshold is met, staff will contact 

with MARAC coordinator to enquire whether a referral should be made. 

 

2.3 The Housing Trust is part of the Community Safety Partnership, part of whose 

remit is to tackle issues of domestic abuse in the district. 

 

Additionally, we will report all cases, specifically or in a non-detailed form to 

the Community Safety Partnership to monitor trends and assess effective 

action. 
 

Page 27



Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy  

Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy 

Kerry Clare 

Dec 15 

The Anti Social Behaviour Team will seek the advice of the Community Safety 

Partnership in the formation of casework panels (where required), sharing of 

information and good practice. 

 

Domestic abuse is also a standard item on the agenda of the Anti-Social 

Behaviour Forum, of which the police, Housing Trust and Welwyn Hatfield 

Council are a part. 

 

2.4 The Housing Trust is committed to ensuring that all staff particularly those on 

the frontline, are aware of local agencies and services available to support 

victims of domestic abuse. 

 

Although the Anti Social Behaviour Team will investigate cases, all Housing 

Management  and Housing Needs staff and office reception areas hold 

information about other agencies that can support the victim or investigate a 

reported incident. 
 

The Anti-Social Behaviour Team maintain close working links with many of 

these, liaising regularly in respect of contemporary casework 

 

 Key contacts include: 

 

 Welwyn Garden City and Hatfield Community Police teams 

 Hertfordshire Constabulary Hate Crime Unit 

 Hertfordshire Constabulary Domestic Abuse Officer 

 MARAC and IDVAs 

 Welwyn Hatfield Women’s Refuge 

 Social Care services 

 Other social landlords 
 

3. Prevention and Publicity 

 

3.1 Welwyn Hatfield Community Housing Trust has included a clause in the 

tenancy agreement, which specifically prohibits domestic abuse. 

 

“3.23 Violence and Domestic Abuse 

 

You, or anyone who lives with you or visitors, invited or uninvited to your 

home must not permit, commit, incite or cause any type of violence, including 

domestic violence anywhere or threaten violence anywhere against any other 

person wither living with you or anywhere else, or make anyone who lives with 

you leave the home because of domestic violence or the threat of it.  Examples 

of domestic violence include: mental, emotional, sexual or physical abuse and 

assault.  If you are a victim of domestic abuse, we can advise, support and if 

necessary take action.” 

 

The clause is explained to each new tenant when the agreement is signed.  It is 

made clear to all tenants that if they are responsible for domestic abuse they 

may be at risk of losing their home. 

Page 28



Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy  

Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy 

Kerry Clare 

Dec 15 

 

In proven cases of domestic abuse, the Housing Trust will explore the option 

of possession under Ground 1 of the Housing Act 1985 and Grounds 2 and 2A 

of the Housing Act 1996. 

 

3.2 The Housing Trust, working closely with partners, will install additional security 

measures to protect victims of domestic abuse should they wish to remain in 

their homes. 

 

These measures can include additional external lighting, stronger locks, 

windows and doors, boundary security, panic alarms, fireproof letterboxes, etc. 

 

3.3 The Housing Trust will continue to promote the need for increased reporting 

of domestic abuse.  It will display material produced and provided by its 

partners in all public areas of its offices.  The Housing Trust will use this 

material to send a clear message to victims, perpetrators and other tenants that 
we take that matter of Domestic Abuse seriously. 

 

 The Housing Trust has also produced a leaflet titled Domestic Abuse – Our 

Commitment.  This leaflet is available in the reception areas of its offices.  The 

leaflet offers advice on how to report incidents of Domestic Abuse and 

explains the procedure the Housing Trust will follow whilst investigating the 

matter.  It also provides practical advice on keeping safe and provides contact 

details of other agencies who are able to offer support and advice. 

 

3.4 The Housing Trust will actively seek to exclude persons from the Housing 

Register who have been shown to be guilty of domestic abuse.  This is part of 

the Housing Trust’s commitment to breaking the cycle of domestic abuse and 

clearly demonstrates zero tolerance. 

 

4. Supporting victims and witnesses 

 

4.1 The Housing Trust will refer victims of domestic abuse, with their consent, to 

other agencies including Women’s Refuge and MARAC, who specialise in 

offering advice and support. 

  

4.2 The Housing Trust will make every effort to ensure that the needs of victims 

and witnesses are met, either by their own staff or by working closely with 

other departments within the Council or external agencies and organisations.  

  

4.3 The Housing Trust will provide advice and assistance regarding housing options 

for all victims of domestic abuse where it is clear that it is unreasonable for 

them to continue to occupy their present home due to the threat of abuse.  

The Trust recognises that the safety of the victim is the priority and will make 

an assessment of need in relation to rehousing and provide information about 

available options in accordance with The Homelessness Act 2002.  These 
options may vary, depending on the individual circumstances of the victim.   

 

Page 29



Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy  

Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy 

Kerry Clare 

Dec 15 

4.4 The Housing Trust will work closely with the victim to support them during 

this time of transition and will provide the victim with the necessary advice and 

support whilst their housing options are being considered.  The Housing Trust 

will be mindful of the victim’s needs and wishes during this time.   

 

4.5 The Housing Trust will support victims in taking civil action against the 

perpetrator of domestic abuse.  This can be in conjunction with other agencies 

or an independent legal representative.  The Housing Trust will ensure that 

victims are provided with the information and advice they require to make an 

informed decision.   

 

4.6 The Anti Social Behaviour Team are a dedicated resource for tackling domestic 

abuse and anti-social behaviour and will receive regular training updates in 

supporting victims and legal remedies.  The Housing Trust will ensure that all 

front-line staff are trained in recognising and recording domestic abuse and that 

they received regular training updates. 
 

4.7 The Housing Trust will undertake a satisfaction survey in each domestic abuse 

case that it investigates.  This is seen to be crucial in the accurate assessment of 

victims’ satisfaction with our service and exploring potential for continuous 

service improvement. 

 

This survey will make use of questionnaires and interviews.  It will be a valuable 

tool in ensuring that the problem originally reported has been brought to a 

satisfactory close. 

 

5. Action against perpetrators 

 

5.1 The Housing Trust will take prompt and appropriate action against the 

perpetrator of Domestic Abuse.  The Anti Social Behaviour Team will be the 

Housing Trust lead in all cases involving domestic abuse and will be trained in 

taking civil action against the perpetrator of domestic abuse.   

 

5.2 The Anti Social Behaviour Team will be Housing Trust’s representative in 

Court and will assist the Legal Services team in the facilitation of meetings 

between Counsel and victims and witnesses. 

 

5.3 The Housing Trust will work closely with our partners, in particular the 

Council and Hertfordshire Constabulary to gather evidence required to pursue 

possession action against any tenant responsible for domestic abuse.  This 

information is shared at the Anti Social Behaviour Forum and the joint working 

will continue throughout the whole process. 

 

6. Support and Rehabilitation of the perpetrator 

6.1 The Housing Trust acknowledges that – in many cases – a perpetrator of 

domestic abuse will have needs and requirements that must be investigated.  
During investigations, officers will make every attempt to discover the needs 

Page 30



Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy  

Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy 

Kerry Clare 

Dec 15 

and requirements of the perpetrator in an effort to break the cycle of repeated 

domestic abuse.  It is understood that there may be clear reasons why some 

individuals are violent, for example drug and alcohol dependencies.   

6.2 As part of all casework, the support needs of the perpetrator will be assessed 

at the earliest stage.  It is envisaged that the Neighbourhood Housing Officers 

will liaise with the Tenancy Support Officers to prepare a package of support 

where appropriate.  If during further investigation the Anti-Social Behaviour 

Team discover additional needs they will request assistance from all 

appropriate agencies.   

A benefit of multi-agency working will be the facility for involving the right 

agencies in the right cases.  This will take place at either the ASB Forum or 

MARAC meetings. 

6.3 The Housing Trust acknowledges that its work in tackling domestic abuse may 

lead to tenancies being ended or injunctions being granted that prevent an 

individual from entering or living in their home.  The Anti-Social Behaviour 

Team will make recommendation to the Council’s Senior Housing Officer Panel 
regarding the needs of a perpetrator when the Council’s duty to offer 

accommodation is being considered.  Key factors to be considered will be the 

location and type of accommodation available as well as its proximity to 

support services and victims of the individual’s behaviour in the past. 

6.4 The Anti-Social Behaviour Team will also coordinate the input of partner 

agencies in ensuring that information is shared as to the identified needs of a 

perpetrator.  The Council’s Tenancy Support Officers will be informed of any 

package that is developed and support will be offered in maintaining a successful 

tenancy. 

6.5 In some cases the Anti-Social Behaviour Team will negotiate an Acceptable 

Behaviour Contract at the point of sign-up for a tenancy, augmenting the 

requirements of the Tenancy Agreement (Secure and Non-Secure) with 

reference to particular behaviour noted in that individual previously. 

 

Page 31



Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy  

Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy 

Kerry Clare 

Dec 15 

 

Appendix A: Useful Contacts 

 

If you are in danger and need immediate Police assistance dial 999 
 

 24 hours National Domestic Abuse Helpline  0800 2000 247 

 

Welwyn Hatfield Women’s Refuge    01707 373743 

 

Victim Support      0300 303 0165 

 

Herts Domestic Abuse & Abuse Info Line   08 088 088 088 

 

MALE (Men’s Advice Line and Enquiries)    0808 801 0327 

 

National Child Protection Line (NSPCC)   0800 800 500 

 

Children’s Services      0300 123 4043 

Hertfordshire Social Services  

 

Adult Care Services      0300 123 4042 

Hertfordshire Social Services 

 

Domestic Abuse Officer     101 

Hertfordshire Constabulary  

 

Hate Crime Officer      101 

Hertfordshire Constabulary 

 

Crime Prevention Advice     101 

Hertfordshire Constabulary 
 

Welwyn Hatfield Community Housing Trust  01707 357706 

Anti Social Behaviour Team – reporting domestic abuse  

and hate crime 

  

Welwyn Hatfield Community Housing Trust  01707 357000 

Housing Needs Team – homeless applications and  

housing advice 

Area Housing Office – general advice on existing  

tenancies 

 

Welwyn Hatfield Community Housing Trust  01707 357800 

Repairs Line 

 

Control Centre - 24 hour service for emergencies including out of hours repairs and 

homeless advice 

Page 32



Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy  

Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy 

Kerry Clare 

Dec 15 

Appendix B: 

 

Further Information 

 

Possession Legislation 

 

Sections 145 and 149 of the 1996 Housing Act created a new ground for possession of 

secure tenancies, where one spouse or cohabite has left the home because of abuse or 

threats of abuse. 

 

The Court may grant possession of a property if the tenant or a person residing in or 

visiting the property has been found guilty of conduct causing or likely to cause a 

nuisance or annoyance to a person residing, visiting or otherwise engaging in a lawful 

activity in the locality (Schedule 2, Part I, Ground 2 of HA 1985) 

 

The court may grant possession if the tenant or a person residing in or visiting the 
dwelling has been convicted of an arrestable offence committed in, or in the locality of, 

the dwelling house (Schedule 2, Part I, Ground 2 of HA 1985) 

 

The court may grant possession if a spouse or cohabitee has left because of abuse or 

threats of abuse by their partner and the court is satisfied that the person who has left 

is unlikely to return.  The threats or abuse may have been directed against the person 

who left, or against a member of that person’s family who was living with them at the 

time (Schedule 2, Part I, Ground 2a of HA 1985) 

 

Homelessness Legislation 

 

Part VI and VII of the 1996 Housing Act deals with homelessness and allocation of 

housing accommodation. 

 

Homelessness and Threatened Homelessness 

 

A person is homeless if they have no accommodation available for occupation in the 

UK or elsewhere.  They are not to be treated as having accommodation unless it is 

accommodation it would be reasonable to continue to occupy. 

 

There is an interim duty to accommodate applicants pending enquires, if it appears that 

they may be homeless, eligible for assistance and have a priority need. 

 

For the purpose of determining whether it is reasonable for a person to continue in 

occupation, the Council will consider whether there is the probability of domestic 

abuse resulting from continued occupation. 

 

A person has a priority need if he or she is vulnerable as a result of having to leave 

accommodation because of abuse or threats of abuse.  In assessing vulnerability we will 

take into account the following factors: - 
 

 The nature of the abuse or threats of abuse 

Page 33



Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy  

Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy 

Kerry Clare 

Dec 15 

 The impact and likely affects of the abuse or threats of abuse on the victim’s 

physical and mental health and well-being. 

 Whether the applicant has any existing support networks particularly by way of 
family or friends 

 

Housing Benefit 

 

Housing Benefit can be paid in certain circumstances, on both a tenancy and temporary 

accommodation, under regulation 5 of the Housing Benefits Regs. 

 

Legal Action 

 

The victim can apply for a civil injunction under the Protection from Harassment Act 

1997.  An Injunction is a legal written order granted by the Courts which instructs or 

forbids a person from doing one or more thing.   

  

The victim can apply for a non-molestation order which is granted by the courts.  This 

order prevents the abuser from using abusive behaviour towards the victim and any 

children.   

 

The victim can also apply for an occupation order which removes the abuser from the 

family home, giving the victim rights to occupy it.   

 
These injunctions and/or orders are applied for in the County and Magistrates  Court. 

 

Page 34



Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy  

Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy 

Kerry Clare 

Dec 15 

Appendix C 

 

 
 

Procedure for dealing with domestic abuse  

Staff Guidance Note 

 

Initial Contact 

 

As soon as is practicable (either by telephone or in person) a CAADA-DASH Risk 

Identification Checklist will be completed with the alleged victim.  This checklist will 

identify the level of risk and determine whether a referral to MARAC should be made. 

 

A copy of the checklist should be sent to the ASB Team for monitoring and recording 

purposes. 
 

In all cases the tenant should be given the opportunity of a joint appointment with 

their Neighbourhood Housing Officer and a Housing Options Officer.  If this is difficult 

to arrange quickly they should be given basic advice and if necessary the housing needs 

team should arrange temporary accommodation.  

 

In cases involving occupants of private rented accommodation an appointment will be 

made with a Housing Options Officer. 

 

In cases involving tenants of other Housing Providers advice will be given and where 

appropriate a joint appointment with the landlord will be arranged. 

 

At the appointment the following areas will be explored: 

 

HOUSING OPTIONS 

 

The tenant could consider various options: 

 

 Stay in the property long term 

 Stay in the property short term with a view to considering a management move 

within the Borough 

 Emergency accommodation and return to the property (once e.g. 

injunction/sanctuary room in place) 

 Emergency accommodation and management move within borough 

 Emergency accommodation and homeless application elsewhere 

 

ADVICE 

 

The following areas should be covered 

 

Page 35



Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy  

Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy 

Kerry Clare 

Dec 15 

 Support – such as outreach from Women’s Aid 

 Legal action – injunction//non-molestation order/property adjustment order (in 
the case of a joint tenancy) 

 Physical measures – Sanctuary scheme 

 

TENANCY ISSUES 

 

The situation with the tenancy also needs to be considered.  If there are any problems 

such as arrears on the account and/or a history of ASB, this will need to be addressed.  

Each case will be different, however a history of poor tenancy management should not 

affect whether the tenant is considered homeless in cases of domestic abuse.   
 

JOINT TENANCY 

 

In cases where there is a joint tenancy and the victim does not want to return to the 

property, the issue of how to resolve the joint tenancy should be discussed. 

 

The tenant should be clear on their rights to serve Notice on the joint tenancy and the 

implications of this. 

 

If the tenant is seeking rehousing and does not wish to return to the joint tenancy, this 

issue needs to be resolved as part of the process.  For example we may insist that a 

Notice is served to terminate the joint tenancy if we have accepted a homeless duty 

and they wish to be permanently rehoused elsewhere.  But this needs to be resolved 

at the beginning of the contact. 

 

There will be occasions where a joint tenant is reluctant to serve Notice (because they 

are afraid of repercussions) or where there are concerns, such as high arrears on the 

account.  In such circumstances you should seek advice from a Senior Officer. 

 

SAFEGUARDING 

 

Victim 

 

As part of the assessment the lead officer should carry out a MARAC risk assessment 

with the victim.  If the RA meets the threshold – a referral must be made to MARAC. 

 

If there are any young people in the household a safeguarding referral must to be made 

to Children’s Services. Guidance should be sought from the Trust’s Safeguarding 

policies with regard to this. 

 
A safeguarding referral should be made to Adult Care Services if the household is adult 

only and there is a suspicion that the adult may be vulnerable. 

 

Perpetrator 

 

If advice has been given to the perpetrator of domestic abuse that they are legally 

entitled to remain in the property safeguarding measures MUST be undertaken in 

reference to the wellbeing of other occupants of the property. 

Page 36



Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy  

Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy 

Kerry Clare 

Dec 15 

 

A safeguarding referral should be made to Adult Care Services if the household is adult 

only. 

 

A safeguarding referral should be made to Children’s Services if there are any young 

people in the household. 

 

Guidance should be sought from the Trust’s Safeguarding policies with regard to the 

above. 

 

A referral should be made to MARAC if it meets the threshold as defined in the 

CAADA guidance. 

 

If the Housing Trust has been approached by the alleged perpetrator 

contact should be attempted with the alleged victim to ensure their safety.  

This should be done in a way that does not increase the risk of harm. 
 

Landlord 

 

The landlord (registered housing provider only) must be notified of any potential risk 

to any tenant or members of the household following disclosure and be advised that 

the Trust has taken action to safeguard the family. 

Page 37



Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy  

Classification: Unrestricted 

Domestic Abuse Policy 

Kerry Clare 

Dec 15 

Appendix D 

 

Tackling Domestic Abuse: Performance Indicators 

 

We will record the following: 

 

 Number of domestic abuse issues under investigation 

 Number of injunctions sought/granted to deal with domestic abuse issues, 

numbers breached and outcome/penalty 

 Number of notices issued, court proceedings issued, SPOs granted, outright 

possession granted and evictions carried out in cases where domestic abuse is a 
ground for action 

 Number of tenants evicted on grounds of domestic abuse 

 Number of domestic abuse cases where the case is closed, by type of action 

taken and outcome 

 Percentage of successful resolutions (based on survey of complaints) 

 Number of individuals excluded from the Housing Needs Register because of 

the perpetration of domestic abuse 

 Number of domestic abuse issues dealt with in conjunction with other agencies. 

 Number of domestic abuse issues where victim is rehoused, either within or 

outside of the district 

 

Page 38



 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

 
Equality Impact Assessment 

Assessment completed by:  Kerry Clifford 

Name of policy/project/ 
service to be assessed 

 
 
Domestic Abuse Policy 
 
 

 
At what stage of 
consultation has this EqIA 
been prepared? 
 

 

Pre consultation      ☒ 

Post consultation  ☐ 

No consultation required ☐ 

 

Method of analysis 
undertaken and dates 

 

Managers – desktop screening ☒ Date: Jul 2019 

Employee Forum ☐ Date: 

Stakeholder review ☐ Date:  

 

Who does the policy or 
service affect? 
 

 

Customers (public)          ☒ 

Internal (staff/Members)   ☒ 

External (partners/contractors/agencies) ☒ 

Other     ☐ 

 

What are the aims/ 
objectives/purpose or 
outcome or intended 
effects of the policy, 
project or service? 

 To set out how we will deal with Domestic Abuse 
and violence against women and girls. 

 To provide a consistent and supportive service to 
anyone who has experienced domestic abuse. 

What equality data is 
available relating to the 
use or implementation of 
the policy, project or 
service? 

Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment on 
Domestic Abuse 2015 suggests; 

 One in four women and one in 6 men endure 
violence from a partner, ex-partner or family 
member. 

 79.6% of Hertfordshire victims are female. 

 Significant increase in victims aged between 61-70 
and 16-20. 

 Lesbian and bi-sexual women experience 
domestic abuse at a similar rate to women in 
general however 49% of gay men have 
experienced at least one incident of domestic 

Page 39



abuse compared with 17% generally. 

 Individuals from Black and Ethnic Minority Groups 
and the traveller community are more likely to be 
at risk from Honour based abuse, female genital 
mutilation and forced marriage but there is minimal 
local data relating to domestic abuse due to under-
reporting linked to fear of criminalising family and 
going against cultural tradition. 

What consultation has 
taken place in the 
development or review of 
the policy, project or 
service? 

 
Workshop between the Domestic Abuse Champions, 
Housing Policy Manager and Community Safety 
Partnership. 
 

Page 40



 

 

 

Does the policy have a positive or negative impact on any of the following Protected Characteristic groups covered by the Equality Act 

2010? 

 Positive 
Yes/No 

Negative 
Yes/No 

Neutral 
Yes/No 

Evidence & Comments 

 
Age 
 
 

Y Y  Positive 
Our DA Policy works in line with our Safeguarding Adults at Risk and 
Safeguarding Children Policy. 
Negative 
Our DA Policy applies to anyone over the age of 16 as defined by the 
Government definition.  Below that age group the Safeguarding Children 
Policy applies. 

 
Disability 
 
 

Y Y  Positive 
Signposting to support agencies where the victim/perpetrator has disabilities 
Completion of a Risk Assessment paying regard to protected characteristics  
Completion of a proportionality statement before taking legal action to 
demonstrate we have considered the needs of the perpetrator and are acting with 
regard to the Equality Act 2010. 

Negative 
The perpetrator may be committing domestic abuse as a result of mental health 
issues. We will work with the perpetrators to help them, but it may also be 
necessary to take enforcement action to keep their victims safe.  
The perpetrator may not qualify for help as they do not meet the criteria for a 
particular agency.  
The perpetrator may not be able to understand and remember what is expected 
from them as a tenant or what is being said to them. They also may not have the 
ability to change their behaviour because of their mental health needs. A better 
relationship with the Mental Health Team is being developed to overcome this.  

 
Ethnicity 

Y Y  PositiveCompletion of Risk Assessment to assess the extent of harm and risk 
Domestic Abuse is having on the complainant/perpetrator due to their ethnicity 
and cultural traditions. Some forms of violence against women and girls is 

P
age 41



 

 

 

cultural. 
We will seek to provide an officer of the same ethnicity where possible. 
Negative 

Communication barrier if English is not the first language – translator services 
will need to be employed. 

 
Gender re-
assignment 
 

  Y The implementation of this policy will have no direct impact on this 
characteristic however our DA Policy specifically states that we will support 
any individual experiencing domestic abuse irrespective of any protected 
characteristics. 

 
Marriage/Civil 
partnership 
 

  Y The implementation of this policy will have no direct effect on this 
characteristic. 

 
Pregnancy & 
Maternity 
 

  Y The implementation of this policy will have no direct effect on this 
characteristic. 

  

P
age 42



 

26.09.17 
 

 Positive 
Yes/No 

Negative 
Yes/No 

Neutral 
Yes/No 

Evidence & Comments 

 
Religion or belief 
 
 

Y   Positive 
The implementation of this policy will have no direct impact on this 
characteristic however our DA Policy specifically states that we will support 
any individual experiencing domestic abuse irrespective of any protected 
characteristics. 

 
Sex 
 

  Y The implementation of this policy will have no direct effect on this 
characteristic. 

 
Sexual orientation 
 
 

Y   Positive 
The implementation of this policy will have no direct impact on this 
characteristic however our DA Policy specifically states that we will support 
any individual experiencing domestic abuse irrespective of any protected 
characteristics. 

 

Equality Impact Assessment Outcome: 

Low risk ☒   

 Medium risk ☐   

 High risk ☐   

 

Any other comments: 

 

For Steering Group use only: 

Comments: 

P
age 43



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
SOCIAL OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

OVERVIEW WORK PROGRAMME 2019-2020 

 
MEETING 

DATE 

 
REPORT TOPIC 

 
AUTHOR 

 

 
PRESENTATIONS 
and/or EXTERNAL 

PARTIES 

 
13 Nov 19 

 
GLL bi-annual update, April 2019 to September 2019 -  
Public Health Partnerships Fund and Projects – annual update  
Health and Wellbeing annual update  
Youth Partnerships Annual Update  
Sport Partnerships Annual Update  
2019-20 Q2 PIs  
Armed Forces Covenant update 

 
 
Jeannette Hollingsworth 
Matt Rayner 
Matt Rayner 
Matt Rayner 
Paul Underwood 
Jo Harding 

Presentation from GLL 
Matt Perren External 
GLL 

 
16 Jan 20 

 
Community Safety and Crime Disorder annual update  
Equalities annual update  
 
 

 
Matt Rayner/external  
Simone Russell 
 

 

 
4 Mar 20 

 
Museum Service annual update 2019-2020 Linda Dobbs 
Safeguarding annual update  
Town Centres annual update  
2019-20 Q3 PIs  
 

 
Linda Dobbs 
Simone Russell 
Matt Rayner 
Paul Underwood 

 

 
1 Jun 20 

 
GLL bi-annual update, October 2019-March 2020  
Campus West Annual Report 2019-20  
Community Spaces Strategy  
Sports Facilities Strategy  
Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy – outcome of 
consultation  
ASB Strategy Draft 2019-2022 Annual Update  
2019-20 Q4 PIs Paul Underwood 
Armed Forces Covenant update  
 

 
 
Mark Woolman 
Matt Rayner 
Matt Rayner 
Sian Chambers 
 
Kerry Clifford 
Paul Underwood 
Jo Harding 

 
GLL 
 

 

Members of the Committee may identify and add items to the work programme that are within the remit of the Committee. 

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 ACTIONS UPDATE
	8 PERFORMANCE INDICATOR REPORT
	SOSC KPI's 2

	10 DOMESTIC ABUSE POLICY
	Appendix A - draft Domestic Abuse Policy 2019 - final for CMT
	Appendix B - Trust Domestic Abuse Policy - Dec 15
	Appendix C - EqIA DA Policy

	11 COMMITTEE OVERVIEW WORK PROGRAMME 2019/20

